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OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

Our reference: COR-04723-2022

Mr David Layzell MP
Chair
Legislation Review Committee
By email: legislation.review@parliament.nsw.gov.au

Dear Mr Layzell MP 

Thank you for your correspondence about the following Regulations considered by the 
Legislation Review Committee. I respond to the factors raised toward disallowance as follows.

Motor Accident Injuries Amendment Regulation 2022 (MAI Amendment Regulation)
Section 3.24 of the Motor Accident Injuries Act 2017 (MAI Act) establishes the entitlement to 
treatment and care. Schedule 2 establishes the jurisdiction of the Personal Injury Commission to 
resolve disputes that arise due to the entitlement. The MAI Amendment Regulation was made to 
clarify an interpretation that was intended at the time the MAI Act was enacted and has a 
significant impact on the treatment accessible to injured persons.

The decision of Obeid v AAI Ltd t/as AAMI [2022] NSWPICMP 76 raised issues as to whether a 
Medical Assessor and Review Panel of the Personal Injury Commission had the power to 
determine a claim for medical expenses not incurred and not provided under Sch 2 cl 2(b) and 
section 3.24 of the MAI Act. A subsequent decision in Insurance Australia Ltd t/as NRMA 
Insurance v Proietti [2022] NSWPIC 298 also applied the Obeid reasoning (decision date of 2 
June 2022). 

This was a significant decision as it meant that if an injured person and insurer could not agree 
that a future medical expense was required, the only avenue available to an injured person would 
have been to fund the expense and then dispute liability for payment after the expense had been 
incurred and treatment had been undertaken.

Until this point, clause 2(b) of Schedule 2 and section 3.24 of the MAI Act had been operating as 
intended and in the same way as comparative provisions under the Motor Accident Compensation 
Act 1999. The intended operation being that where a dispute arose regarding a medical expense 
not incurred and not provided, the dispute could be determined by the Personal Injury 
Commission prior to the medical expense being incurred.

Notification of South Australian Bar Association Professional Standards Scheme 
The Committee identified that a specific version of an Insurance Standard is incorporated into the 
notification of the South Australian Bar Association Professional Standards Scheme, where the 
Insurance Standard is not subject to disallowance requirements. Considering that the 
incorporated document appears to be specifically defined, the Committee makes no further 
comment. I acknowledge the conclusion of the Committee and note that the notification has not 
been referred to Parliament to consider disallowance.
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Residential Apartment Buildings (Compliance and Enforcement Powers) Amendment 
(Building Work Levy) Regulation 2022 (RAB Amendment Regulation)
I acknowledge the concerns raised by the Committee relating to the retrospective application 
of the RAB Amendment Regulation allowing the Secretary to impose a building work levy 
where an expected completion notice has been provided and for which an occupation 
certificate has not been provided. 

The purpose of the building work levy is to have developers contribute to the costs of 
regulating the sector, particularly for the compliance activities their building work are subjected 
to raise the standard of building work in NSW. The levy can be imposed on certain building 
work carried out on residential apartment buildings where the work requires the developer to 
provide an expected completion notice. 

Under section 7 of the Residential Apartment Building (Compliance and Enforcement Powers) 
Act 2020 (RAB Act) a developer is to provide an expected completion notice between 12 and 
6 months before the building work is to be completed, or if the work is to be completed within 6 
months, within 30 days of the work commencing. Section 8 of the RAB Act provides for the 
expected completion notice date to be amended. 

This means that the levy can be imposed on building work that was started before the RAB 
Amendment Regulation commenced, but not yet reached the period of approaching 
completion within 6 to 12 months. The levy can also be imposed on building work that 
commences on or after the RAB Amendment Regulation commences. 

Where an expected completion notice has been lodged prior to the commencement of the 
RAB Amendment Regulation, and where there is no need for notification of change to the 
expected date, the building work levy will not be imposed by the Secretary. This is reflected in 
the design of the NSW Planning Portal, which issues the notice from the Secretary imposing 
the levy. 

The Portal has been designed to only impose the levy where the expected completion notice is 
provided or amended after the commencement of the RAB Amendment Regulation. This 
means that building work that is nearing completion will not have the building levy imposed. 

The power to impose the levy where an expected completion notice has already been 
provided was included so that the levy can be imposed where there has been an amendment 
of the expected completion notice as allowed for under section 8 of the RAB Act. The power 
also covers circumstances where the expected completion notice ought to have been 
amended but the developer has failed to do so. 

The power is necessary to ensure developers who fail to carry out their obligations relating to 
an expected completion notice under section 8 cannot avoid the imposition of the levy. Without 
the power, a developer could have sought to avoid the levy by providing an expected 
completion notice before the commencement of the RAB Amendment Regulation for work that 
was not expected to be completed within 6 to 12 months. 

The retrospectivity ensures parity between developers who lodge the notice in accordance 
with the RAB Act and those who do not, noting that without the transitional provision, the levy 
can be imposed on building work that commenced prior to the RAB Amendment Regulation. 

3



4



5


	Letter from the Hon. Natalie Ward MLC, Minister for Women's Safety and the Prevention of Domestic and Sexual Violence, responding to the Committee's comments regarding the Road Transport (Driver Licensing) Amendment Regulation 2022 in Digest 46/57 – 6...
	Letter from the Hon. Victor Dominello MP, Minister for Customer Service and Digital Government, responding to the Committee's comments regarding the Motor Accident Injuries Amendment Regulation 2022 (MAI Amendment Regulation), Notification of South Au...
	Letter from the Hon. Victor Dominello MP, Minister for Customer Service and Digital Government, responding to the Committee's comments regarding the Motor Accident Injuries Amendment Regulation 2022 (MAI Amendment Regulation), Notification of South Au...
	Letter from the Hon. Victor Dominello MP, Minister for Customer Service and Digital Government, responding to the Committee's comments regarding the Motor Accident Injuries Amendment Regulation 2022 (MAI Amendment Regulation), Notification of South Au...
	Letter from the Hon. Victor Dominello MP, Minister for Customer Service and Digital Government, responding to the Committee's comments regarding the Motor Accident Injuries Amendment Regulation 2022 (MAI Amendment Regulation), Notification of South Au...



